
 
 

BEFORE 
THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION OF OHIO 

 
Cynthia Wingo, 
8249 Tributary Lane 
Reynoldsburg, Ohio 43068 
 

Complainant,  
 

v.  
 
Nationwide Energy Partners, LLC, 
230 West Street, Suite 150 
Columbus, Ohio 43215 
 

and 
 
Crawford Hoying, Ltd., 
c/o John A. Gleason 
41 S. High St. 
Suites 2800-3200 
Columbus, Ohio 43215 
 

and 
 
Crawford Communities, LLC, 
c/o John A. Gleason 
41 S. High St. 
Suites 2800-3200 
Columbus, Ohio 43215 
 

and  
 
Knox Energy Cooperative Association, Inc., 
c/o Anthony Desiato 
4100 Holiday St. N.W. Suite 201 
Canton, OH 44718 
 

Respondents. 
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COMPLAINT 
 

For her Complaint against Nationwide Energy Partners LLC, Crawford Hoying, Ltd., 

Crawford Communities, LLC, and Knox Energy Cooperative Association, Inc., Complainant 

Cynthia Wingo alleges and avers as follows:  

PARTIES AND JURISDICITION 

1. Complainant is a residential tenant at Creekside at Taylor Square apartments in 

Reynoldsburg, Ohio.  

 2. Respondent Nationwide Energy Partners, LLC (NEP) is a foreign limited liability 

company organized under the laws of Delaware. 

 4. Crawford Hoying, Ltd. (Crawford Hoying) is a domestic limited liability 

company and, on information and belief, the developer of Creekside at Taylor Square. 

 5. Crawford Communities, LLC (Crawford Communities) is a domestic limited 

liability company. Crawford Communities is listed as “Agent for Landlord” on Complainant’s 

lease for her apartment at Creekside at Taylor Square. 

 6. Knox Energy Cooperative Association, Inc. (Knox) is a domestic non-profit 

corporation providing natural gas service to both members and non-members. Complainant is not 

a member of Knox. 

7. This Complaint refers to NEP, Crawford Hoying, Crawford Communities, and 

Knox, collectively, as the “Respondents.”  

 8. Each Respondent, individually or in concert with one or more other 

Respondent(s), is a “reseller” of public utility services as defined in the June 21, 2017 Second 

Entry on Rehearing, ¶ 4, in Case No. 15-1594-AU-COI. The Public Utilities Commission of 

Ohio (Commission) has asserted personal and subject matter jurisdiction of such resellers. See 
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Case No. 15-1594-AU-COI, December 7, 2016 Finding and Order ¶ 16 (“[W]e will now apply 

the Shroyer Test not just to landlords, but also to condominium associations, submetering 

companies, and other similarly situated entities.”); ¶ 17 (“W]e will apply the Shroyer Test 

regardless of whether that entity considers itself a landlord, condominium association, 

submetering company, or some other type of business.”). 

9. Complainant reserves the right to name additional parties, including subsidiaries, 

parent companies, other affiliates or agents of Respondents, and other related entities as 

Respondents. 

FACTS  

10. Complainant incorporates by reference the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 9 

of this Complaint.  

 11. AEP Ohio’s electric service tariffs specifically limit the resale of electricity to: (i) 

wholesale transactions with “legitimate electric public utilities” and (ii) landlords, “where the 

landlord is not operating as a public utility, and the landlord owns the property upon which such 

resale or redistribution takes place.” Ohio Power Company, PUCO No. 20 ¶ 18. 

12. Since at least 2000, NEP has offered direct cash payments, monthly residual 

payments, services in lieu of payment, and other financial incentives to lure developers and 

owners of multifamily properties into allowing NEP to install, operate and maintain utility 

meters and infrastructure at participating developers’ properties, and to individually bill and 

collect for utility services from residents and tenants. 

13. After NEP and the developer agree on how much the developer should be paid, 

the developer and NEP execute a “commodity coordination service agreement” (CCSA) for the 

supply of electric, gas, water and/or sewer service.  
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14. The CCSAs are drafted and prepared by NEP. The CCSAs contain provisions 

requiring the developer to include language in tenant leases and condominium declarations 

purporting to give NEP the right to evict tenants, place liens on condominium units, and pursue 

other recourse against tenants and residents for non-payment of utility bills. 

15. The CCSAs are sham agreements intended to mask the true nature of NEP’s 

services and its relationship among the developer, residents, and tenants. To the extent the 

CCSAs purport to establish an agency relationship between NEP and the developer (which 

Complainant denies), such agency relationship is not disclosed to tenants or residents. 

16. NEP and each of the other Respondents are parties to, or beneficiaries of, one or 

more CCSAs. 

17. NEP maintains that its CCSA counterparties or other related entities are the 

providers of utility services to residents and tenants, and that NEP merely acts “on behalf of” 

these counterparties and other entities as their agent. If the Commission finds that NEP has acted 

or is acting as an agent of any other Respondent, such Respondents, as NEP’s principal, are 

liable for the acts and omissions of NEP. 

18. NEP arranges for the supply of public utility services to the property identified in 

the CCSA by establishing commercial accounts for electric, gas, water and/or sewer service with 

a “host utility” (a municipal or regulated utility authorized to serve the geographic area). NEP 

creates the account under the name of the developer, but directs the host utility to send its bills 

directly to NEP.  

19. In some instances, NEP enters contracts with competitive retail electric suppliers 

(CRES) to procure electricity for the multifamily properties identified in the CCSA. NEP also 

enters contracts to aggregate the electric loads of multiple properties.  
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20. Developers that execute CCSAs do not disclose their relationship with NEP, or 

otherwise disclose to prospective tenants or purchasers that they will receive utility services, or 

bills for such services, from NEP. Nor do the leases or condominium declarations applicable to 

properties served by NEP disclose any material terms and conditions of utility services, such as 

rates, security deposits, late fees, payment methods, or other pertinent information. 

21. Tenants and residents of communities served by NEP are not permitted to shop 

for an electric supplier. Nor are they permitted to enter direct relationships with a host utility. 

22. NEP claims to bill residents and tenants at the residential rate charged by the host 

utility. NEP retains all funds collected from residents and tenants.  

23. Even if residents and tenants pay the same delivery and supply rate they would 

otherwise pay to the host utility (which Complainant denies), NEP does not offer equivalent 

services. For example, NEP does not provide rebates or energy efficiency measures offered by 

the host utility; does not offer percentage of income payment (PIPP) or other low-income and 

emergency assistance programs; does not offer alternatives to cash security deposits; does not 

offer net metering or “smart” meters; and does not otherwise render service in accordance with 

the rules, standards, and regulations applicable to the host utility.  

24. The costs incurred by host utilities to provide goods and services such as rebates 

and energy efficiency measures, PIPP and other bill payment assistance programs, and to pay 

certain taxes levied on public utilities, are reflected in the host utility’s rates. Certain host utility 

rate structures also include “riders” to recover specific costs and expenses. 

25. By charging host utility rates, but not incurring the costs reflected in such rates, 

NEP earns profits greatly exceeding those of the host utility from whom it purchases and resells 

public utility services. See Joint Application for Rehearing of Ohio Power Co., et al., Case No. 
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15-1594-AU-COI, at 7 (presenting calculation demonstrating 45% profit margin). Consumers, 

however, receive fewer benefits than they would if served directly by the host utility. 

26. Consumers directly served by the host utility also receive protection from this 

Commission or other governmental authority. For example, consumers with issues involving 

AEP Ohio may call the Commission and receive assistance from Commission staff in resolving 

disputes informally, with the option of filing a formal complaint if necessary. But when 

consumers call the Commission for assistance in dealing with NEP or another utility reseller, 

they are routinely told that the Commission is unable to offer assistance or provide a forum for a 

complaint. 

27. In addition to the false equivalency between the rates charged by NEP and the 

host utilities, NEP’s rates for other services greatly exceed those of the host utility. For example, 

NEP charges $50 for a meter test, while AEP offers a free meter test every two years. AEP pays 

interest on security deposits, but NEP does not. AEP does not charge late fees to residential 

consumers. NEP does, at the rate of 10% of the unpaid balance.  

28.  NEP’s bills to residents and tenants also include “common area” charges, even 

though NEP does not meter common area usage.  

29. NEP calculates “common area” charges by subtracting funds received from 

tenants and residents from the amounts billed to NEP by the host utility. For example, and by 

way of illustration only, if the host utility charges NEP $100,000 for a billing period and NEP 

collects $60,000 from residents and tenants, the remaining $40,000 is allocated and billed to 

tenants and residents as “common area” usage, either directly on residents’ and tenants’ bills, or 

indirectly through a separate bill issued to a homeowner’s association (and ultimately paid by 

residents through homeowner association dues). 
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30.  NEP’s method of calculating “common area” charges results in tenants and 

residents paying more for utility services than they would pay if directly served by the host 

utility. Electric distribution losses, unaccounted-for water, tenant and resident vacancies, 

uncollectible expense, and other costs ordinarily incurred by the host utility, and built into the 

host utility’s rates, are shifted from NEP to tenants and residents. Indeed, residents and tenants 

pay such costs twice: once through the host utility rate structure applied by NEP, and again 

through common area charges. 

31. Some CCSAs also purport to authorize NEP to collect a “facility fee” or similar 

charge from consumers. This fee recovers the cost of distribution infrastructure installed at the 

property, and is not disclosed to consumers prior to entering a lease or purchasing a 

condominium. This fee also represents a double-recovery of costs, or recovery of funds for 

which there is no underlying cost. 

32. Residents and tenants are billed for electric generation service at AEP’s standard 

service offer (SSO) rate, regardless of whether NEP has arranged to supply generation service 

through a CRES provider. To the extent a CRES provider supplies generation service, but 

residents and tenants pay a higher rate based on AEP’s SSO, residents and tenants pay more to 

NEP than they would if served directly by the host utility.  

33. NEP developed its corporate name to lend legitimacy to its scheme. Nationwide 

Realty Investors (NRI), an affiliate of Nationwide Mutual Insurance Company, has numerous 

CCSAs with NEP. The name “Nationwide Energy Partners” suggests an affiliation with 

“Nationwide Realty Investors” or “Nationwide Insurance.” The abbreviation “NEP” closely 

resembles “AEP.” And the word “Partners” suggests to the public that NEP has the sponsorship 

and approval of host utilities.  
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34. None of the rates charged by NEP for its services are disclosed in the monthly 

bills rendered to consumers. Nor does NEP publish rate information on its website 

(nationwideenergypartners.com) or by other means. 

35. NEP routinely and in the ordinary course of business disconnects customers 

during the months covered by the Commission’s Winter Reconnect Order. 

36. NEP routinely and in the ordinary course of business sues customers and former 

customers for nonpayment of utility bills. 

37. NEP routinely and in the ordinary course of business transfers outstanding 

balances from the accounts of former tenants and residents to the accounts of new residents and 

tenants. 

38. NEP routinely and in the ordinary course of business fail to timely process tenant 

and resident moves, and then pursue collection activities for services rendered after a tenant or 

resident has left the premises. 

39. NEP routinely and in the ordinary course of business seeks to collect outstanding 

balances from individuals other than its customer of record, in violation of the Equal Credit 

Opportunity Act, 15 USC 1691 et seq. and other applicable law. 

40. NEP routinely and in the ordinary course of business furnishes false or erroneous 

information to credit reporting agencies, in violation of the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 USC 

1681 et seq. and other applicable law. 

41. NEP routinely and in the ordinary course of business improperly requests and 

discloses consumers’ personal identifying information, in violation of the Privacy Act of 1974, 5 

U.S.C. 552a et seq. and other applicable law. 
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42. The activities among NEP and Respondents constitute a “trust” under the Ohio 

Valentine Act, R.C. Chapter 1331 and the Sherman Antitrust Act, 15 USC 1 et seq. Such trusts 

are formed for the express purpose of eliminating and restraining competition in the market for 

retail electric generation service. 

 43. Respondents NEP and Knox have not sought Commission review or approval of 

the rates or charges billed to customers, as required by, among other statutes, R.C. 4905.22, R.C. 

4905.30, 4905.32, and R.C. 4909.18. 

 44. NEP does not possess a certificate of public convenience and necessity to provide 

water service, as required by R.C. 4933.25. 

 45. NEP does not possess a certificate of public convenience and necessity to provide 

sewer service, as required by R.C. 4933.25. 

 46. NEP does not have a certified territory authorizing or requiring it to provide 

electric service, as required by R.C. 4933.83(A). 

 47.  NEP is not a certified suppliers of competitive retail electric service, as required 

by R.C. 4928.08(B). 

 48. Respondents NEP and Knox are not otherwise listed on the rolls of the 

Commission as public utilities; have not applied to the Commission for exemptions from 

regulation as public utilities; and do not otherwise comply with any applicable provision of Title 

49, Ohio Revised Code. 

 49. Respondents NEP and Knox have committed the acts alleged herein “knowingly,” 

as defined in R.C. 4928.01(A)(14). 

 50. Although not an essential element of any claim alleged herein, Respondents NEP 

and Knox have manifested an intent to be public utilities by availing themselves of the benefits 



 

10 
 

of public utilities. 

 51. Although not an essential element of any claim alleged herein, Respondents NEP 

and Knox make their services available to the general public. 

 52. Although not an essential element of any claim alleged herein, the provision of 

utility services by Respondents NEP and Knox is not ancillary to their primary businesses, 

respectively. 

 53. Although not an essential element of any claim alleged herein, but for the 

unlawful provision of services by NEP and Knox, Complainant could obtain utility services from 

AEP Ohio, Columbia Gas of Ohio, and other Commission-regulated or governmental utility 

providers at a total lower annual cost than the cost she currently pays. 

 54. The Respondents are parties to CCSAs.  

 55. Complainant moved to an apartment at Creekside in June 2017, pursuant to a 

lease dated June 5, 2017, with “Crawford Communities, LLC, as duly authorized Management 

Agent (‘Landlord’).” A copy of the lease is attached as Exhibit A. 

 56. Complainant’s first bill from NEP is dated June 27, 2017. The bill reflects charges 

for electric, water, and “community charges.” A copy of this bill is attached as Exhibit B. 

 57. Complainant also received a bill from Knox for natural gas supply, delivery, and 

associated taxes, plus a security deposit of $200. A copy of the bill is attached as Exhibit C. 

58. Knox’s terms and conditions of service are set forth in Rules and Regulations 

Governing the Distribution and Sale of Gas, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit D. 

 59. Section III, Paragraph 7 of Knox’s Rules and Regulations governs “turning on 

gas.”  This section states: “A renter/tenant owner/member must submit an application card to the 
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Cooperative and be accepted for owner/membership.”  

 60. Complainant has neither applied for, nor be accepted as, a member of Knox. 

 61. Knox has not filed tariffs with the Commission authorizing it to serve consumers 

who are not members of the cooperative. 

 62. Knox is not authorized to provide competitive retail natural gas service to 

consumers who are not members of the cooperative. 

COUNT I: UNLAWFUL PROVISION OF 
NONCOMPETITIVE RETAIL ELECTRIC SERVICE 

 
 63. Complainant incorporates by reference the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 62 

of this Complaint. 

 64. NEP’s bills include a line item for “distribution service” and “transmission 

service.” NEP also supplies or arranges for the supply of metering service, billing and collection 

service, and ancillary services. Each of the foregoing are “noncompetitive” components of retail 

electric service under R.C. 4928.01(A)(21) and (B).  

 65. By “supplying or arranging for the supply of electricity to ultimate consumers in 

this state, from the point of generation to the point of consumption,” Respondents provide “retail 

electric service” as defined in 4928.01(A)(27), and are engaged in the business of an “electric 

light company” as defined in R.C. 4905.03(C), and an “electric distribution utility” and “electric 

utility” under R.C. 4928.01(A)(6) and (11). As such, each Respondent is a “public utility” as 

defined in R.C. 4905.02(A). 

 66. The rates charged by Respondents have not been submitted to, or approved by, 

the Commission, as required by R.C. 4909.18 and 4905.22. 
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 67. By supplying or arranging for the supply of retail electric service at unapproved 

and unregulated rates, Respondents are engaged in knowing, continuing violations of R.C. 

4905.22 and R.C. 4909.18.  

COUNT II: UNLAWFUL PROVISION OF 
COMPETITIVE RETAIL ELECTRIC SERVICE 

 
 68. Complainant incorporates by reference the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 67 

of this Complaint. 

 69. NEP’s bills include a line item for “generation service.” Generation service is a 

competitive component of retail electric service under R.C. 4928.03. 

 70.  R.C. 4928.08(B) prohibits the provision of a competitive component of retail 

electric service without first obtaining certification from the Commission to provide such 

service.  

 71. Respondents have neither applied for, nor has the Commission approved, an 

application for certification to supply a competitive component of retail electric service. 

 72. By supplying or arranging for the supply of a competitive retail electric service 

without the required certification, Respondents are engaged in a knowing, continuing violation of 

R.C. 4928.08(B).  

COUNT III: VIOLATION OF CERTIFIED TERRITORY ACT 
 
 73. Complainant incorporates by reference the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 72 

of this Complaint. 

 74. AEP Ohio (AEP) is an “electric supplier” as defined in R.C. 4933.81(A). AEP has 

the exclusive right and obligation to furnish “electric service” to all “electric load centers” within 

its “certified territory,” pursuant to R.C. 4933.81 et seq.  
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 75. Creekside is an electric load center located within the geographic boundaries of 

AEP’s certified territory. 

 76. By supplying or arranging for the supply of retail electric service to Creekside, 

Respondents are “electric suppliers” as defined in R.C. 4933.81(F).  

 77. As an “electric supplier” providing “electric service” to an “electric load center” 

within the “certified territory” of AEP, Respondents are engaged in a knowing, continuing 

violation of R.C. 4933.83(A).  

COUNT IV: UNLAWFUL PROVISION OF WATER SERVICE 

 78. Complainant incorporates by reference the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 77 

of this Complaint. 

 79. NEP’s bills include a line item for water service. Respondents are therefore 

“engaged in the business of supplying water through pipes or tubing, or in a similar manner, to 

consumers within this state,” and is a “water-works company” as defined in R.C. 4905.03(G) and 

a public utility under R.C. 4905.02(A). 

 80. R.C. 4933.25 prohibits a water works company from operating water distribution 

facilities until it has been issued a certificate of public convenience and necessity (CPCN) by the 

Commission.  

 81. By supplying or arranging for the supply of water service without a CPCN, 

Respondents are engaged in a knowing, continuing violation of R.C. 4933.25. 

 82. By supplying or arranging for the supply of water service at unapproved and 

unregulated rates, Respondents are engaged in a knowing, continuing violation of R.C. 4905.22 

and R.C. 4909.18.  
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COUNT V: UNLAWFUL PROVISION OF SEWAGE DISPOSAL SERVICE 
 
 83. Complainant incorporates by reference the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 82 

of this Complaint. 

 84. NEP’s bills include line items for storm sewer and sanitary sewer services. 

Respondents are therefore “engaged in the business of sewage disposal services through pipes or 

tubing, and treatment works, or in a similar manner,” and are a “sewage disposal company” as 

defined in R.C. 4905.03(M) and a public utility under R.C. 4905.02. 

 85. R.C. 4933.25 prohibits a sewage disposal company from providing sewage 

disposal services unless it has been issued a CPCN by the Commission.  

 86. By supplying or arranging for the supply of sewage disposal service without a 

CPCN, Respondents are engaged in a knowing, continuing violation of R.C. 4933.25. 

 87. By supplying or arranging for the supply of sewage disposal service at 

unapproved and unregulated rates, Respondents are engaged in a knowing, continuing violation 

of R.C. 4905.22 and 4909.18. 

COUNT VI: VIOLATION OF MINIMUM SERVICE REQUIREMENTS FOR 
COMPETITIVE ELECTRIC SERVICES 

 
88. Complainant incorporates by reference the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 87 

of this Complaint. 

89. For the protection of consumers in this state, the Commission administers and 

enforces rules establishing minimum service requirements for competitive electric services, 

codified at Chapter 4901:1-21, Ohio Administrative Code. 

90. The services supplied by Respondents violate the standards set forth in Chapter 

4901:1-21. 
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COUNT VII: VIOLATION OF MINIMUM SERVICE REQUIREMENTS FOR 
NONCOMPETITIVE ELECTRIC SERVICES 

 
91. Complainant incorporates by reference the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 90 

of this Complaint.  

92. For the protection of consumers in this state, the Commission administers and 

enforces rules establishing minimum service quality, safety, and reliability requirements for 

noncompetitive retail electric services. These rules are codified at Chapter 4901:1-10, Ohio 

Administrative Code. 

93. The services supplied by Respondents violate the standards set forth in Chapter 

4901:1-10. 

COUNT VIII: VIOLATION OF STANDARDS APPLICABLE TO THE 
ESTABLISHMENT AND TERMINATION OF SERVICE 

 
 94. Complainant incorporates by reference the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 93 

of this Complaint. 

 95. For the protection of consumers in this state, the Commission administers and 

enforces rules for the establishment of credit for residential utility service. See Chapter 4901:1-

17, Ohio Administrative Code. 

 96. For the protection of consumers in this state, the Commission administers and 

enforces for the termination of residential utility service. See Chapter 4901:1-18, Ohio 

Administrative Code. 

 97. The services supplied by Respondents violate the standards set forth in Chapters 

4901:1-17 and 4901:1-18. 
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COUNT IX: UNFAIR, MISLEADING, DECEPTIVE AND UNCONSCIONABLE 
PRACTICES 

  
98. Complainant incorporates by reference the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 97 

of this Complaint. 

99. Rule 4901:1-21-05(C), Ohio Administrative Code, provides: “No CRES provider 

may engage in marketing, solicitation, or sales acts, or practices which are unfair, misleading, 

deceptive, or unconscionable in the marketing, solicitation, or sale of a CRES.” 

100. In addition to the acts, practices and violations alleged herein, Respondents have 

represented to Complainant specifically, and the public generally, that its rates and charges are 

the same as, or nearly equivalent to, the rates and charges of the local “host” utility. Such 

representations are unfair, misleading, deceptive, and unconscionable. 

101. The very act of attempting to replicate AEP’s rate structure and billing method 

results in NEP customers paying charges for which they receive no corresponding benefit. For 

example, NEP customers such as Complainant pay charges associated with AEP’s Universal 

Service Fund, but are unable to avail themselves of the benefit provided by the Universal Service 

Fund program. The same can be said for riders (as well as base charges) associated with energy 

efficiency and rebate programs, weatherization, low income assistance, alternative energy 

programs, and all other AEP charges. NEP customers are charged for all the programs AEP 

provides or facilitates, but receive none of the benefits. 

102. Respondents’ attempt to compare (and justify) its rates and charges to those of 

AEP, a Commission-regulated public utility, also has the effect of misleading customers into 

believing that Respondents adhere to Commission regulations. They do not. 

103. Respondents’ method of calculating and charging common area expenses, 

facilities fees, and related charges is unfair, misleading, deceptive, and unconscionable. 
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COUNT X: VIOLATIONS BY KNOX 
 

 104. Complainant incorporates by reference the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 

103 of this Complaint. 

 105. By engaging in the business of supplying natural gas to consumers within this 

state who are not members of the cooperative, Knox is “a natural gas company” under R.C. 

4905.03(E) and 4929.01(G), and a “public utility” under R.C. 4905.02(A). 

 106. By furnishing retail natural gas service that may be competitively offered to 

consumers who are not members of the cooperative, Knox furnishes a “competitive retail natural 

gas service” under R.C. 4929.01(J), “commodity sales service” under R.C. 4929.01(C), “retail 

natural gas service” under R.C. 4929.01(M), and is a “retail natural gas supplier” under R.C. 

4929.01(N). 

 107. Knox does not adhere to, and has violated, the Commission’s certification 

requirements promulgated under Chapter 4901:1-27, O.A.C. 

 108. Knox does not adhere to, and has violated, the Commission’s reporting 

requirements promulgated under Chapter 4901:1-30, O.A.C.  

 109. Knox does not adhere to, and has violated, the Commission’s service 

requirements promulgated under Chapters 4901:1-13 and 4901-1-29, O.A.C. 

 
COUNT XI: PERSISTENT PRACTICE OR PATTERN OF  

VIOLATIVE CONDUCT  
 

110. Complainant incorporates by reference the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 

109 of this Complaint. 

 111. In addition to the violations alleged in Counts I through X herein, Respondents 

have been continuously engaged in a persistent practice or pattern of conduct in violation of Title 
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49, Ohio Revised Code. These violations include, but are not limited to, those listed in the 

following paragraphs. 

112. Respondents have failed to “print and file with the Commission schedules 

showing all rates, joint rates, rentals, tolls, classifications, and charges for service of every kind 

furnished by it,” in violation of R.C. 4905.30. 

113. Respondents’ actions subject customers to “undue or unreasonable prejudice or 

disadvantage,” in violation of R.C. 4905.35. 

114. Respondents have failed to pay assessments owed to the Commission, in violation 

of R.C. 4905.10. 

115. Respondents have failed to abide by the Uniform System of Accounts, in 

violation of R.C. 4905.48. 

116. Respondents have failed to file annual reports, in violation of R.C. 4905.14. 

117. Respondents have has issued stocks, bonds and notes without Commission 

approval, in violation of R.C. 4905.40. 

118. Respondents have engaged in unapproved transactions with other public utilities, 

in violation of R.C.4905.48.  

119. Respondents have failed to offer energy conservation programs, in violation of 

R.C. 4905.70. 

120. Respondents have failed to develop or offer net metering, in violation of R.C. 

4928.67. 

121. Respondents have failed develop or offer energy efficiency programs, in violation 

of R.C. 4928.66. 
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122. Respondents have failed to provide electricity from alternative energy resources, 

in violation of R.C. 4928.64. 

123. Respondents have failed to remit excise tax and kilowatt-hour tax, in violation of 

R.C. 4909.161. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

Complainant respectfully requests that the Commission issue an Order finding and 

directing that: 

a. The Complaint states reasonable grounds and should be scheduled for hearing, as 

required by R.C. 4905.26 and R.C. 4909.18; 

b. Respondents, individually or in concert with other Respondents, are knowingly 

engaged in the business of a public utility, and conducting such business in a manner contrary to 

law; 

c. Respondents, individually or in concert with other Respondents, are knowingly 

engaged in the business of supplying a competitive retail electric service, and conducting such 

business in a manner contrary to law; 

d. The rates, charges, and other sums exacted by Respondents are unjust, 

unreasonable, unfair, discriminatory, and in violation of law; 

e. The services rendered by Respondents are unjust, unreasonable, unfair, 

discriminatory, and in violation of law;  

f. The books and records of Respondents should be examined and audited to 

determine the profits derived from their unlawful provision of service, and disgorged of such 

excess and unlawful profits; 

g. Respondents are subject to penalties and forfeitures, in amounts determined and 
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assessed in accordance with Title 49, Ohio Revised Code;  

h. Complainant is entitled to an award of damages, as authorized by R.C. 

4928.16(B), and subject to trebling under R.C. 4905.61;  

i. Any contracts entered into by Respondents in furtherance of their unlawful 

provision of service be rescinded, in accordance with R.C. 4928.16(B); 

k. The public utility service currently rendered to Creekside at Taylor Square is 

inadequate, inefficient, improper, insufficient, and should be substituted, in accordance with R.C. 

4905.37. 

l. Respondents are authorized and directed to abandon service to Creekside, in 

accordance with R.C. 4905.20, subject to identification of a substitute utility service provider; 

m. The Attorney General is authorized and directed to commence such civil actions 

as are necessary to effectuate the relief requested herein, including, without limitation, an action 

directing Respondents to show cause why they should not be permanently enjoined from the 

further provision of services subject to Commission supervision and regulation; and  

n. Such other and further relief as authorized by law. 
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Dated: September 19, 2017    Respectfully submitted, 
 

 
s/ Mark A. Whitt 
Mark A. Whitt  
Andrew J. Campbell  
Rebekah Glover 
WHITT STURTEVANT llp 
88 E. Broad St., Suite 1590 
Columbus, Ohio 43215 
614.224.3946 
614.224.3960 (f) 
whitt@whitt-sturtevant.com 
campbell@whitt-sturtevant.com 
glover@whitt-sturtevant.com 
 
Shawn J. Organ  
Joshua M. Feasel  
Carrie M. Lymanstall  
Organ Cole llp 
1330 Dublin Road   
Columbus, Ohio 43215 
614.481.0900  
614.481.0904 (f)		
sjorgan@organcole.com 
jmfeasel@organcole.com 
cmlymanstall@organcole.com 
 
(All counsel are willing to accept 
service by email) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

INSTRUCTIONS  
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INSTRUCTIONS FOR SERVICE 
 

 
TO THE DOCKETING DIVISION: 
 
Please serve the Complaint to the following: 
 
 

Nationwide Energy Partners, LLC 
c/o West Street Statutory Agent Corporation 
230 West Street, Suite 375 
Columbus, Ohio 43215 

 
Crawford Hoying, Ltd. 
c/o John A. Gleason 
41 S. High St. 
Suites 2800-3200 
Columbus, Ohio 43215 
 
Crawford Communities, LLC 
c/o John A. Gleason 
41 S. High St. 
Suites 2800-3200 
Columbus, Ohio 43215 
 
Knox Energy Cooperative Association, Inc. 
c/o Anthony Desiato 
4100 Holiday St. N.W. Suite 201 
Canton, OH 44718 
 

 
 

 
s/ Mark A. Whitt 

 
 



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT A



·. .. . ·-·.: .. ·.::· . ..:-::.· 

· ouesliolisf' / .. 
~miU0Jrs~pbff~lllli.1i .. · 

(6l4)S18,t031 or(&i'1)~1ij,ill$1 
orvisl\ us oi\1iiwat . . 

N1ti,mwid~netgyP\\ifoffi!,lidil1 

EXHIBIT B



PAYMENT METHODS 

NEP Autopay 
Sign up for autopay to have the payments for your NEP bill automatically 
withdrawn from your oanK account or credit card each month, at no 
COS!IO you. 

Electronic BIii Pay 
Set up directly through your oanK onllne. electronic bill pay allows 
you to send money from your bank account directly to NEP to pay 
your bill. You choose the amount you want to pay and the date you 
want the payment to be applied. 

Online Payment 
Pay online anytime through NEP's website. Residents can register 
online or quick pay without having to set up an online account. 

-. --- . - - Billiflg Summary-· ... - · ,--- _ _. ,'-, 
, , • , J , < , ,, , • t >~ , I , , , 1, , 1 

II Previous Balance 

Payments 

Balance Forward/Carry Over 

Customer Charge 

NEP Energy Dl•count 

Electric U•age 

II Water Usage 

Sewer Usage 

Stormwater Charges 

-

Common Area Electric 

Common Area Water 

TOTAL AMOUNT DUE ON JUL 13, 2017 

£/l 'd 

$0.00 

$0.00 

$0.00 

$5.68 

-$0.70 

$12.66 

$6.46 

$620 

$2.80 

$7.41 

$0 02 

In-Store Payment 
A number of stores, sucn as Wal-Mart, accept payments at all 
locations in the continental us. Bring your NEP statement with you. 
Service fees may apply. 

Mail 
Pay by check by mailing the detachable payment stub along with 
your checK in the return envelope proviaed with your monthly invoice. 
Please include your NEP account number on your check. 

Phone 
Residents may pay their bill 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, through 
NEP's automated phone system. Residen1s may also call our toll free 
Resident Support number to pay with a live agent during ottice hours. 
Service tees will apply for pByments made with a live agent, 

USEFUL INFO 
Never worry about missing a bill and save paper by 
signing up for paperless billing! You'll receive an 
email notification the moment your bill is available 
online when you sign up 1hrough "My Account' at 
NationwideEnergyPartners.com. It's convenient for 
you ano benefits the environment! You can also 
sign up for Autopay to waive your security deposit 
and enjoy the ease of paying your bill automatically 
every month. Have peace of mind knowing you will 
never miss a payment! 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
NEP provides metering and billing services on behalf ol your community owner 
or community association. Failure to receive a bill does not change the due 
oate or possibility of disconnection due to non-payment. 
A $30.00 charge may be applied to your account tor all paymems not honored 
by the bani-': for an.y mason, including, but not limited to: Insufficient funds 
(NSF), account dosed, payment stopped, no signature, and Improperly drawn 
or submitted 
A security deposit is added to the account of any new residents or delinoueni 
accounts The depos,1 will be waived if a resident signs up tor autopay or 
presents NEP wah a oualiri,ing lener of credit from a previous utility company. 
All fees are subject to change. 

For more information regarding your billing 
summary and charges, please visit our website a1 

NationwtdeEne,gyPartners.com 
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